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Paintiff allegesthe following based upon the investigation of plaintiff’s counsel,
which included areview of United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) filings
by AstroPower, Inc. (“AstroPower” or the “Company”), as well as regulatory filings and reports,
securitiesandysts’ reports and advisories about the Company, press releases and other public
satementsissued by the Company, and media reports about the Company, and plaintiff believes
that substantial additional evidentiary support will exist for the allegations set forth herein after a
reasonable opportunity for discovery.

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1 Thisis afederal securities class action on behdf of purchasers of the securities
of AstroPower between February 22, 2002 and August 1, 2002, inclusive (the “Class Period”),
seeking to pursue remedies under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act’).

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2 The claims asserted herein arise under and pursuant to Sections 10(b) and
20(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 88 78j(b) and 78t(a)] and Rule 105 promulgated thereunder
by the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) [17 C.F.R. 8 240.10b-5].

3 This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28

U.S.C. §8 1331 and 1337 and Section 27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.SC. § 78.



4 Venue is proper in this District pursuant to Section 27 of the Exchange Act,
and 28 U.S.C. 8 1391(b). Many of the acts and practices complained of herein occurred in
subgtantia part in this Digtrict and AstroPower maintains its principal executive officesin this
Didtrict.

5 In connection with the acts alleged in this complaint, defendants, directly or
indirectly, used the means and instrumertdities of interstate commerce, induding, but not limited to,
the malls interstate telephone communications and the facilities of the national securities
markets.

PARTIES
6. Paintiff Larry Quick, purchased the securities of AstroPower at artificialy

inflated prices, as set forth in the accompanying certification, during the Class Period and has
been damaged thereby.

7. Defendant AstroPower is a Delaware corporation with its principal executive
offices located at 300 Executive Drive, Newark, Delaware. At dl relevant times, AstroPower
described itHf as “theworld’ s largest independent manufacturer of solar eectric power products, and
one of theworld' sfastest growing solar eectric power companies”

8 Defendant Allen M. Barnett served as President and Chief Executive Officer
of the Company at all times relevant to this action.

9 Defendant Thomas J. Stiner served as Chief Financial Officer of the Company
at all times relevant to this action.

10. Messrs. Barnett and Stiner are referred to herein as the “Individua
Defendants.”

11 Because of the Individual Defendants positions with the Company, they had
access to the adverse undisclosed information about its business, operations, products, operationa

trends, financid statements, markets and present and future business prospects via access to interna



corporate documents (including the Company’ s operating plans, budgets and forecasts and reports
of actual operations compared thereto), conversations and connections with other corporate
officers and employees, atendance a management and Board of Directors meetings and committees
thereof and via reports and other information provided to them in connection therewith.

12. It is appropriate to treat the Individual Defendants as a group for pleading
purposes and to presume that the false, mideading and incomplete information conveyed in the
Company’s public filings, press releases and other publications as aleged herein are the
collective actions of the narrowly defined group of defendants identified above. Each of the
Individud Defendants by virtue of their hightlevel positions with the Company, directly participated
in the management of the Company, was directly involved in the day-to-day operations of the
Company a the highest levels and was privy to confidential proprietary information concerning the
Company and its business, operations, products, growth, financid datements, and financid
condition, as dleged herein. Said defendants were involved in drafting, producing, reviewing
and/or disseminating the false and mideading statements and information dleged herein, were
aware, or recklesdy disregarded, that the fase and mideading statements were being issued regarding
the Company, and approved or ratified these statements, in violation of the federal securities laws.

13.  As officers and controlling persons of a publicly-held company whose
common stock was, and is, registered with the SEC pursuant to the Exchange Act, and was
traded on the NASDAQ Nationad Market (the “NASDAQ”), and governed by the providons of the
federd securities laws, the Individua Defendants each had a duty to disseminate promptly, accurate
and truthful information with respect to the Company s financia condition and performance,
growth, operations, financial statements, business, products, markets, management, earnings
and present and future business prospects, and to correct any previoudy-issued statements that
had become materidly mideading or untrue, so that the market price of the Company's publicly-

traded securities would be based upon truthful and accurate information. The Individua



Defendants misrepresentations and omissions during the Class Period violated these specific
requirements and obligations.

14. The Individua Defendants participated in the drafting, preparation, and/or
approva o the various public and shareholder and invedtor reports and other communications
complained of hereén and were avare of, or recklesdy disregarded, the misstatements contained
therein and omissons therefrom, and were aware of their materially false and mideading nature.
Because of their Board membership and/or executive and manageria positions with AstroPower, each
of the Individua Defendants had access to the adverse undisclosed information about AstroPower’s
business prospects and financial condition and performance as particularized herein and knew
(or recklessly disregarded) that these adverse facts rendered the positive representations made by or
about AgtroPower and its busness issued or adopted by the Company maeridly fdse and
mideading.

15. The Individual Defendants, because of their positions of control and authority
asofficers and/or directors of the Company, were able to and did control the content of the various
SECfilings, press releases and other public statements pertaining to the Company during the
Class Period. Each Individual Defendant was provided with copies of the documents alleged
herein to be mideading prior to or shortly after their issuance and/or had the ability and/or
opportunity to prevent their issuance or cause them to be corrected. Accordingly, each of the
Individual Defendantsis responsible for the accuracy of the public reports and releases detailed
herein and is therefore primarily lidble for therepresentations contained therein.

16. Each of the defendants is liable as a participant in a fraudulent scheme and
course of businessthat operated as afraud or deceit on purchasers of AstroPower common stock by
disseminating materialy false and mideading statements and/or concealing material adverse
facts. Thescheme: (i) deceived the investing public regarding AstroPower’ s business,

operations, management and theintringc vaue of AstroPower’ s shares, and (i) caused plaintiff and



other members of the Class to purchase AstroPower securities at artificially inflated prices.

PLAINTIFFSCLASSACTIONALLEGATIONS
17. Paintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil

Procedure 23(a) and (b)(3) on behalf of a Class, consisting of al those who purchased or
otherwise acquired the securities of A stroPower between February 22, 2002 and Augugt 1, 2002,

inclusve (the*Class Period”) and who were damaged thereby. Excluded from the Class are
defendants, the officers and directors of the Company, at al relevant times, members of their
immediate families and their lega representatives, heirs, successors or assigns and any entity in
which defendants have or had a controlling interest.

18. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of al membersis
impracticable. Throughout the Class Period, AstroPower securities were actively traded on the
NASDAQ. While the exact number of Class members is unknown to plaintiff at this time and
can only be ascertained through appropriate discovery, plaintiff believes that there are hundreds
or thousands of members in the proposed Class. Record owners and other members of the Class
may be identified from records maintained by AstroPower or its transfer agent and may be
notified of the pendency of this action by mail, using the form of notice smilar to that
customarily used in securities class actions.

19. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class as all
members of the Class are smilarly affected by defendants’ wrongful conduct in violaion of federa
law that iscomplained of herein.

20. Faintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the
Class and has retained counsd competent and experienced in class and securities litigation.

21.  Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and
predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class. Among the

questions of law and fact common to the Class are:



a whether the federal securities laws were violated by defendants’ acts as
alleged herein;

b whether statements made by defendants to the investing public during
the Class Period misrepresented material facts about the business, operations and
management of AstroPower; and

C. to what extent the members of the Class have sustained damages and
the proper measure of damages.

22. A class action is superior to al other available methods for the fair and
efficient adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable.
Furthermore, as the damages suffered by individua Class members may be relatively smdl, the
expenseand burden of individua litigation make it impossible for members of the Class to
individually redress the wrongs done to them. There will be no difficulty in the management
of this action as a class action.

SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS

23.  AstroPower develops, manufactures, markets and sells arange of solar electric
power generation products, incdluding photovoltaic (PV) solar cells, modules, pands and the
“SunChoice” prepackaged system in the United States and sdlect international markets, including
Germany, Spain, Japan, China and South Africa.

24. The Company’ s solar power generation products are based on crystalline
silicon wafers and generate dectricity directly from the sun senergy. The Company’ s products are
used either in an “off-grid’ application, where they provide the primary source of power instead
of thetraditiona utility grid, or “on-grid,” where they provide an dternative and/or backup source of
power in conjunction with power from the grid.

25. During the five years preceding the Class Period, demand for solar power had

increased by 35%, creating a favorable environment for manufacturers with sufficient capacity,



according to aresearch report published by CIBC World Market Corp. on March 14, 2002.
Throughout the Class Period, AstroPower presented itself as such amanufacturer. In its press
releases, the Company repeatedly described itsalf as “the world’s largest independent
manufacturer of solar electric power products, and one of the world’ s fastest growing solar
electric power companies.” The Company stated, in its Form 10-K for the period ended
December 31, 2001, that it had quadrupled production during the two years preceding the
Class Period. The Company also stated that it was developing a method for manufacturing solar
cdls caled Silicon Film Technology. The Company claimed that Silicon Film Technology was
more efficient and cost effective than its manufacturing process at that time and that it would
therefore increase the Company’s profit margins.

26. In September 2001, the Company acquired Aplicaciones Technicas de la
Energia, SA., located in Vaencia, Spain (“Atersa’), for $22.2 million in stock and cash.
Atersa was purportedly aleader in the Spanish residentia rooftop solar system market. During
the Class Period, AstroPower manufactured solar products from the Atersafacility and two
facilitiesin Delaware. Throughout the Class Period, the Company represented thet it was ramping up
production while remaining cost efficient, that it had sufficient expertise to adjust solar product
cgpacity to demand, and that it had minimized the risk of oversupply and a concomitant
inventory glut and/or price and margin erosion.

27. In September 2001, the Company announced an agreement with Home Depot
to sl AgtroPower’s SunChoice on-grid resdentid and commerci al rooftop solar power systems at
three stores in San Diego and, during the Class Period, the Company said that it planned to
expand into at least 70 Home Depot storesin Californiain 2002. The Company entered into
agreements with severd nationaly recogni zed homebuildersthet provided for the use of the
SunChoice systems in new home construction and, in April 2002, announced an agreement

with Premier Homes to supply a minimum of 50 solar dectric home power sysemsfor newly



constructed Premier Homes.

28. The Company further claimed that, as a result of its management,
manufacturing, and marketing expertise, it was well positioned to take advantage of the
increasing demand for solar power products and, throughout the Class Period, the Company
reported strong revenue and earnings growth. As aresult of these statements and reports, which
were disseminated to the investing public, and which formed the basis for research andysts
reports on the Company, the Company’s stock price traded well above the industry averageand
reeched a Class Period high of $27 per share on March 28, 2002.

29. In truth and in fact, throughout the Class Period, the Company was unable to
effectively manage its expanding and increasingly complex operations; it was, inter alia,
unable to alocate resources among its various manufacturing facilities to effectively meet
regiond demand or to tallor its production capacity to actual demand. Consequently, during the
time that the Company was stating thet it was well positioned to take advantage of theincressed
demand for solar products, it was in fact losng ground to more effective competitors, especidly in
Europe, which wasthe Company’ slargest market. Additiondly, to maintain theilluson thet its
operationswere successtul, the Company throughout the Class Period reported artificidly inflated
revenue and earnings by, inter alia, recording revenue in advance of shipment, contrary to its
stated principles of revenue recognition.

30. The truth was revealed on August 1, 2002 when, after the close of trading, the
Company announced its results for the second quarter ended June 30, 2002. Analysts were
stunned. Reported revenue and net income had not grown but, on the contrary, second quarter
income was $365,000, or $0.02 per diluted share compared to $1.7million, or $0.07 per diluted sharein
the year earlier second quarter and revenue of $20.4 million represented only a one percent
increase over reported revenue for the prior quarter and was gpproximately $4.9 million below

andyds consensusestimate. Contrary to the Company s Class Period statements, its ramp up



to meet increased demand was not low risk but resulted in an inventory glut, which included $2
million in inventory which the Company described as “ stranded. ”

31l.  Onthisnews, AstroPower’ s share price plunged 48%, down to $7.77, its
lowest price in almost three years. On August 2, 2002, Brean Murray & Co., Inc. issued a
research report on the Company that reflected analysts' response to AstroPower’ sdisgppointing
second-quarter performance, in which it stated, “Management will, over time, have to reestablish its
own credibility in the investment community as well as demonstrating the viability of its business
model before investors revisit the stock. ”

FALSE AND MISLEADING STATEMENTS
DURING THE CLASS PERIOD

32 The Class Period begins on February 22, 2002. On February 21, 2002, after
the close of trading, the Company issued a press release over the PR Newswire under the headline:
“AstroPower, Inc. Reports Record Fourth Quarter and Full Year Results.” Inthe release, the
Company announced revenue of $20.7 million for the fourth quarter ended December 31,
2001, an increase of 46.9% from the fourth quarter of 2000, and net income of $1.87 million, or
$0.12 per sharefor the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2001, as compared to $761,000 or $0.06
per share for the fourth quarter of 2000. For the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company
reported revenue of $69.5 million, an increase of 39.5% from the previous year, and net
income of $3.5 million, or $0.23 per diluted share, compared to the previous year s net income
of $3.4 million, or $0.27 per diluted share. These results were in-line with analysts consensus
esimate.

33 The release al socontained “Management Comments’ which stated in
pertinent part, as follows:

Commenting on the quarter, Dr. Allen Barnett, President and CEO of

AstroPower, said “We are pleased to report another record quarter — our 24h

consecutive quarter of sequentia product revenue growth. This performance has

alowed usto increase product revenues over the past five years at a compound rate
of over 60%.



“During Q4, we achieved our target of having 65 megawatts of manufacturing
cgpecity in place and we will be ramping up our production rate during 2002.
Substantialy al of our growthin megawetts during 2002 is expected to be driven
by expansion of our SiliconFilm(TM) production capacity. Our god is to finish
2002 with 115 megawatts of manufacturing capacity in place. Our new
manufacturing lines are being configured to reduce the number of process
modules and handling steps, which will enable us to bring new capacity
on-line faster and to reduce manufacturing and capital costs. [. . .]

“We have substantially completed our integration of Atersa, which we
acquired during the third quarter. The sales and marketing and finance
organization have been operationally integrated on a worldwide basis, and
integration of the manufacturing function is proceeding on schedule. Our
announcement earlier thisweek concerning Atersa’s $3 million project award in
Brazil is an early example of how we expect Atersato expand our presencein the
rural power business around theworld.

Dr. Barnett continued “For the first quarter of 2002, we expect product revenues
to be in the range of $20.5— $21.5 million. Product gross margin is expected to
be in the range of 31.0% to 32.0%. Operating expenses are expected to be in
the range of 19.5% to 20.5% of the total revenues for the quarter.

3. Similarly, in their commentsto anaysts, defendants stated that the Company’s
increesingly strong financid performance was driven by increased manufacturing capacity and strong
demand. Credit Suisse Boston Corp. issue an andyst report on AstroPower on February 22,
2002 and stated as follows:

* AstroPower reported 4Q01 and FY 2001 financial resultsin line with
expectations. For FY 2001, revenue and operating EPS were $69.5MM and
$0.41 versus $49.8MM and $0.27 for FY 2000 and our estimates of $68.5MM
and $0.41, respectively. [. . .] Management attributed the strong results
primarily to its increased manufacturing capacity and the continued strong
demand for its solar products across al geographic regions and market
segments including both on-grid and off-grid.

* During the quarter, AstroPower subgtantialy completed the integration of Atersa
and achieved its stated goal of reaching 65MW of manufacturing capacity by
FY E2001. Management said it planned to increase capacity to 115MW by FYE
2002.[.. ]

* We believe AstroPower will continue to grow earnings in the 50% range
primarily driven by low cost capacity expansion coupled with strong demand.
AstroPower remains on alocation with its customers in the capacity
congtrained solar industry. [. . .]

The company said demand for its rooftop solar systems continued to grow
both domestically withHome Depot and others, and with its rooftop program
in Spain. Management reaffirmed its goal of having AstroPower products sold
in 70 Home Depot storesin California by FY E2002 and said there could be
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potentia expansion beyond the sate during the yeer.

3. Other analysts made similar comments on AstroPower’s reported fourth-
quarter and year-end resultsand noted AstroPower’ s purported growth and leading market position
and, inthisregard, stated:

We expect APWR will continueto redlize sequentid product revenue growth as
cgpacity continues to ramp up in the coming quarters. [Brean Murray & Co.,
Inc., Feb. 22, 2002]

We bdieve AstroPower (as one of only two profitable companiesin this sector) iswell
positioned to benefit from increasing interest on the part of consumers and
federal, state and loca governmentsin increasing environmertally friendly
sources of energy, and promoting energy independence. [J.P. Morgan Chase &
Co., Feb. 22, 2002]

A growth machine that continues to meet our expectations. [. . .]

The greater-than-expected increase in product revenue is due to strong demand for
the company’s SunChoice residential rooftop program out of the conventional
channels as well as new channels consisting of nationa homebuilder programs
and the expansion of the Home Depot market test in San Diego. [. . .] We
believe this latest stage of the [Home Depot] pilot program isindicative thet the
program isthus far exceeding expectations.M anagement is confident that the
program will expand to at least 70 stores throughout California during
the course of 2002. [Wedbush Morgan Securities, Feb. 22, 2002]

36. On February 22, 2002, the News Journal reported that AstroPower was moving
its headquarters from Newark, Ddlaware to anew, $12.6 million, 160,000 square-foot
manufacturing plant and headquarters in Glasgow, Delaware, “as the solar-powered cdl maker
druggles to keep up with an increasad demand for its products.”

37. On March 15, 2002, CIBC World Markets Corp. initiated coverage of
AstroPower, and described the Company as follows:

Low cost and profitable producer with visible earnings growth in arapidly

growing industry . Also seen as a'flight-to-qudity’ name withinthe group. Core
holding. Price target $45.

38. The statements referenced above were each materially false ard misleading
when made because they misrepresented and/or omitted the following adverse facts which then
exiged and disclosure of which was necessary to make the statements not false and/or

mideading, including, but not limited to:
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a the integration of Atersawere not “substantially” completed, the sales
and finance organization had not been operationdly integrated on aworldwide basis and the
integration of the manufacturing function was not proceeding on schedule;

b the company was unable to manage its rapidly expanding and
increasingly complex manufacturing processes and was unable to alocate resources effectively
among its various manufacturing facilities,

C. the Company was unable to gauge demand and adjust its
manufacturing process accordingly and consequently, it was producing large quantities of
product for which there was no market, and recognizing revenue on a materia portion of this
production even though it had not been billed for or shipped; and

d reported 2001 revenue and net income were artificialy inflated
because the Company had (i) suffed its distribution channds by digtributing products in excess of
demandand (ii) improperly recognized revenue on products that it had not shipped and on
products and research for which it had not billed.

39. On March 29, 2002, the Company filed its Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2001, signed by the Individua Defendants, in which the Company repested the
financid resultsset forth above. With repect to the Company’ s manufacturing processes, the Form
10K stated

We have developed an innovative and proprietary set of technologies and

processes for the manufacture of solar clswhich optimizes severd stagesinthe

manufacturing process to progressively reduce production costs while increasing

mechanica and electrical yields. We have dso introduced severd solar cell design
features that dlow usto generate more power per solar cell, which ultimately

reduces the cost per kilowatt. Our manufacturing and design innovations address
the primary challengesin solar cell production. These include:

Silicon wafer formation and sourcing. We have developed two proprietary
manufacturing processes that allow us to significantly reduce silicon
wafer cost. Our recyded semiconductor wafer technology recycles silicon wafers
from the semiconductor industry for the production of solar cells. Our Silicon-
Film (TM) technology does not require high-purity silicon and produces large
area silicon sheetsin a fraction of the time of traditional ingot-based wafer



manufacturing. Both our processes are based on crystalline silicon and build on
this material' s established track record of performance and reliability.

Equipment and process engineering. We have designed a range of
proprietary equipment and processes that allow us to increase our
manufacturing productivity and to generate a higher level of power
output per production asset. For example, our Silicon-Film technology is
a continuous, high-speed production process that produces silicon wafers
in minutes. In contrad, traditional ingot-based silicon wafer
manufacturing requires expensive wafer formation and sawing equipment
and takes several days to produce the same quantity of solar power. [. . .]

Our focus on silicon wafer sourcing, equipment and process engineering and
product design has allowed us to significantly reduce our production cost
per watt and has provided us with significant operating leverage to grow out
our business.

40. Regarding the cost-effectiveness and efficiency of its operations, and its
ability to adapt to changesin demand, the Company stated as follows:

We believe that our recent experience of building and operating our second
plant in Delaware, has alowed us to develop a formal, replicable model for
capacity expansion and that this process reduces the risks associated with
further capacity expansion. [. . .] Someof the key eements contributing to this
low risk approach are:

utilization of previously proven processes and equipment; increases in solar
cell sizewhich dlow for greater power output with existing production processes,
and flexible manufacturing which enables us to run multiple product configurations
through the same line.

For the past severa years, we have been constrained by manufacturing
capacity and, in response, have been adding equipment and manufacturing
space to increase capacity. Historically, the photovoltaic industry has taken a
number of years to make its new capacity fully productive. Our experience in
making our new manufacturing equipment fully productive is 9-18 months.
At the end of 2001, we had 65 megawatts of manufacturing equipment in
place. In late February 2002, we assumed occupancy of athird facility for
manufacturing and office space. The manufacturing area of thisfacility contains
space to allow the construction of an additional 125 megawatts over the
next few years, which when fully equipped will bring our total installed
manufacturing equipment capacity to 190 megawatts.

4], With respect to revenue recognition, the Company stated:

Revenue from product sales is recognized when products are shipped.
Revenue related to the Company s fixed price, cost-plus and cost-sharing
research contracts are recognized at the time costs benefitting the contracts are
incurred, which approximates the percentage of completion method.
Provisions for estimated losses are made in the period in which losses are
determined. Accounts receivable includes unbilled accounts receivable
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conggting of materid labor and overhead expended on contracts.

*k*

Our research contract revenue is generated from contracts with various federa
government agencies to conduct research on advanced Silicon-Film (TM)
productsand optoelectronic devices. Generally these contracts last from six
months to three years. We recognize research contract revenue at the time costs
benefitting the contracts are incurred, which approximates the percentage of
completion method.

42. The statements referenced above were each materially false and mideading for
the reasons set forth above and for the additiond reason that the Company did not have “significant
operating leverage’ to grow its business.

43. On May 2, 2002, AstroPower issued a release over the PR Newswire inwhich it
announced its financia results for the first quarter ended March 31, 2002. The Company
reported revenue of $20.7 million, an increase of 44.7% from the first quarter of 2001, and net income
aof $2.0 million, or $0.13 per diluted share, compared to aloss of $1.5 million, or $0.13 per diluted sharein
the year-earlier period. The release contained “Managemert Comments’ which stated:

Commenting on the quarter, Dr. Allen Barnett, President and CEO of
AstroPower said, “We are pleased to report another record quarter. We
continue to focus on growing our manufacturing capacity and again achieved
record production levels during the quarter. This performance was driven in part
by contribution from our fourth solar cell manufacturing line which is dedicated to
running our proprietary Silicon-FHIm (TM) wafers.” Dr. Barnett continued, “Asin
previous years, our product mix in Q1 shifted sgnificantly toward solar cdls. This
had the effect of reducing sequentia quarterly revenue growth but significantly
increased product gross margins. For the balance of the year, we expect our
product mix weighting to shift back towardmodules and systems. Asin
previous years, this should lead to acceleration of sequentia revenue growth in
subsequent quarters.”

“One component of our SunChoice (TM) business is the homebuilder market,
andwe are pleased to have recently announced another builder agreement. Premier
Homes, an innovative Cdifornia builder, will feature our 2.4 kilowatt SunLine
(TM) packaged solar electric system as astandardfeature in one of their
Cdifornia communities. In addition, we are continuing to expand our program
with The Home Depot.”

Dr. Barnett continued, “For the second quarter of 2002, we expect product
revenues to be in the range of $23.0 to $25.0 million. Product gross margin is
expected to be in the range of 32% to 34%. Operating expenses are expected
to be in the range of 20% to 21% of the total revenues for the quarter.”

44.  On May 10, 2002, the Company filed its Form 10-Q for the first-quarter ended
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March 31, 2002, sgned by the Individua Defendants, in which it repested the financid results set
forth above. With respect to revenues it ated:
We currently generate product revenues from the sale of solar cells, modules,
pands and prepackaged systems. While the predominant source of our product

revenues to date has been recycled wafer products, we are continuing asignificant

expangon of our Silicon FIm manufacturing capacity. We recognize product
saes revenue upon shipment. Product sales represented 98.3% of tota revenues
for the three months ended March 31, 2002. [. . .]

We a 50 generate revenue fram contracts with various federal government agencies
to conduct research on advanced Silicon-Film products and optoel ectronic
devices. Generally, these contracts last from six months to three years. We
recoghize research contract revenue at the time costs benefitting the contracts
are incurred, which approximates the percentage of completion method.
Substantially all of our revenues from government contracts are subject to audit
under various federal statutes.

45, On June 12, 2002, AstroPower issued a press release over the PR Newswire in
which the Company announced its preliminary success in developing a silicon manufacturing
process that would create a large-volume source of cost-effective solar-grade silicon feedstock
for use in the congtruction of solar panels. In the release, the Company stated that this new
source of supply would allow the Company to better meet the rapidly growing demand for
solar products.

46. The statements referenced above were each materially false and mideading for
the reasons set forth above.

THE TRUTH BEGINSTO EMERGE
47. On August 1, 2002, after the close of trading, AstroPower issued a press

release over the PR Newswire inwhich the Company announced thet its second quarter net income
had falen 78% to $365,000, or $0.02 per share, from $1.7 million, or $0.07 per sharg, in the same
period ayear earlier. Andysts had expected the Company to earn $.11 per share. Moreover, the
Company’ s gross prafit margin did not increase but rether decreased from 34% to 28.1%, even
though defendants had repeatedly stated during the Class Period that the Company’s

manufacturing processes were increasingly cost-effective and efficient. Total inventories increased

-15-



from $31.2 million as of March 31, 2002 to $38.3 million while the Company ended the second
guarter with $39.9 million in cash, down from 2002.

48.  Asaresult of this news, AstroPower shares, opened for trading at $9.94 on
August 2, 2002, after having closed at $14.89 on August 1, 2002. In fact, on August 1, 2002,
the price of AstroPower shares dropped to an intra-day low of $7.50 and closed out the day at
$7.77, down 48% from the previous day’s closing price, and the shares lowest price in amost three
years.

49. In the “Management Comments’ section of the release, the Company blamed
lower-thanexpected sales in Germany and Californiaand poor allocation of product and
stated

Commenting on the quarter, Dr. Allen Barnett, President and CEO of
AstroPower said, “Although we continue to show strong revenue gains year
over year and remained profitable, we are disappointed with the results for this
quarter. There were anumber of external and interna factorsthat contributed to
dower growth than planned.

“As has been widdy reported in the trade press, the German market got off to avery
slow start thisyear. AstroPower’ s shipments to Germany during Q2 were
higher than in 2001, but did not increase as strongly as we planned. In
addition, we experienced some uncertainty in Cdifornia due to an announcement
concerning possible dimination of asolar tax credit.

Temporary relative softness in these two key markets required us to shift
geographic and product mix, and reduced our sales growth for the quarter.
Internally, we experienced some difficulty in adjusting our forecasting
and build planning systems to the above-mentioned market devel opments.
The net result was a mismatch between products for which we had orders
and the products that our factory built. This was an unusual situation for
AstroPower, and resulted in a finished goods inventory increase of
approximately $2 million at the end of the quarter.

50.  Anaysts were shocked, in part because AstroPower management had assured
them, less than a month before the earnings announcement, that the factors to which it
attributed its poor performance had been eliminated. In this regard, Wedbush Morgan
Securities published a research note on August 2, 2002 which stated as follows:

Downgrading to HOLD; The Sun Is not Quite Shining like It Used to [. . .]
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We are frankly shocked at the size of this quarter’ s earnings miss,
particularly when we consider al of the many growth initiatives that the
company appears to be executing fairly well on, including the capacity build,
the expansion of the Home Depot and homebuilder channds, and the large pipdine
of products a Atersa. We believe that AstroPower lost market share during the
quarter in both Europe and the U.S. to its more-aggressive competitors [. . .]

Toward the end of the quarter and through July, APWR management stated
that many of the factors that hurt 2Q had reversed themselves. Pricing had
firmed overall, the German government voted to expand the PV program
by nearly 200%, order flow began to pick up in Germany, California passed
a budget that kept the PV tax credit intact and APWR collected some of its
outstanding accounts receivable. Y et, we do not believe that APWR will
return to generating 50% Y OY top-line growth any time soon.

51. Commenting on the results, other analysts noted AstroPower’ ssurprising
inability to manage its production process contrary to the state ments made by the defendants
throughout the Class Period. In this regard they stated:

The sdles shortfal was derived from new competition and pricing pressurein
Germany, delays in receipt of several large systems orders and slow ramp-up
of SunChoice Systems. Lower profits are indicative of lower sales volume
and the company’s inability, in the short run, to adjust production to other
product applications and geographic markets. [William Blair & Co., August 2,
2002

Gross margins were down to 28.1% from 34% in the prior quarter because of a
disruption of factory operations in Delaware and Spain.[. . .] Theweakness
in the German market was noted in decreased megawatt volume due to a few
large systems being a part of the product mix in thisregion. [.. ]
Unfortunately, this weak (German) market forced AstroPower to relocate its
German products and the company experienced difficulty adjusting its internal
forecagting and build planning systems accordingly. Products were mismatched
and the incorrect geographic placement of these products led to the stranded
finished products. [Morgan Keegan & Company, Inc., August 2, 2002]

52. In aresearch report published on August 2, 2002, RBC Capital Markets stated,
“Management obvioudly has a credibility gap that, in our opinion, will take one or two

guartersto close at a minimum.”

Additional Scienter Allegations

53. As alleged herein, defendants acted with scienter in that defendants knew that
the public documents and statements issued or disseminated by the Company were mater ially

false and misleading; knew that such statements or documents would be issued or
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disseminated to the investing public; and knowingly and substantialy participated or acquiesced in
the issuance or dissemination of such statements or documents as primary violations of the
federal securities laws. As set forth elsewhere herein in detail, defendants, by virtue of their
receipt of information reflecting the true facts regarding AstroPower, their control over,
and/or receipt and/or modification of AstroPower’s allegedly materialy misleading
misstatements and/or their associations with the Company which made them privy to
confidential proprietary information concerning AsiroPower, participated in the fraudulent scheme
alleged herein.

Applicability Of Presumption Of Reliance:
Fraud-On-The-Market Doctrine

54.  Atall relevant times, the market for AstroPower’ s securities was an efficient
market for the following reasons, among others:

@ AstroPower’s stock met the requirements for listing, and was listed and
actively traded on the NASDAQ), ahighly efficient and automated market;

(b) As aregulated issuer, AstroPower filed periodic public reports with the
SEC and the NASD;

(© AstroPower regularly communicated with public investors via established
market communi cation mechanisms, including through regular disseminations of press
releases on the national circuits of major newswire services and through other wide-ranging
public disclosures, such as communications with the financia press and other similar
reporting services; and

(d) AdroPower was followed by several securities analysts employed by
major brokerage firms who wrote reports which were distributed to the sales force and certain
customers of their repective brokerage firms. Each of these reportswas publicly available and
entered the public marketplace.

55.  Asaresult of the foregoing, the market for AstroPower’ s securities promptly
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digested current information regarding AstroPower from all publicly available sources and
reflected such information in AstroPower’s stock price. U nder these circumstances, all
purchasers of AstroPower’ s securities during the Class Period suffered similar injury through
their purchase of AstroPower’ s securities at artificially inflated prices and a presumption of
reliance applies.

NO SAFE HARBOR

56. The statutory safe harbor provided for forward-1ooking statements under
certain circumstances does not apply to any of the allegedly false statements pleaded in this
complaint. Many of the specific statements pleaded herein were not identified as “forward-
looking statements’ when made. To the extent there were any forward-looking statements, there
were no meaningful cautionary statements identifying important factors that could cause actud
results to differ materidly from those in the purportedly forward-looking statements.
Alternatively, to the extent that the statutory safe harbor does apply to any forwardlooking
statements pleaded herein, defendants are liable for those false forward-looking statements
because at the time each of those forward looking statements was made, the particular speaker
knew that the particular forward looking statement was fase, and/or the forward-looking statement
was authorized and/or gpproved by an executive officer of AstroPower who knew that those
statements were false when made.

FIRST CLAIM

Violation Of Section 10(b) Of

The Exchange Act And Rule 10b-5
Promulgated Thereunder Acaingt All Defendants

57. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every alegation contained above as if

fully set forth herein. This claim is brought against all defendants.
58. During the Class Period, defendants carried out a plan, scheme and course of
conduct which was intended to and, throughout the Class Period, did: (i) deceive the

investing public, including plaintiff and other Class members, as alleged herein; and (ii) cause

-19-



plaintiff and other members of the Classto purchase AstroPower’ s securities at artificidly inflated
prices. In furtherance of this unlawful scheme, plan and course of conduct, defendants, and
each of them, took the actions set forth herein.

59. Defendants (a) employed devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud; (b) made
untrue statements of material fact and/or omitted to state material facts necessary to make the
statements not mideading; and (c) engaged in acts, practices, and a course of businesswhich
operated as a fraud and deceit upon the purchasers of the Company’s securities in an effort to
maintain artificialy high market prices for AstroPower’s securitiesin violation of Section 10(b)
of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. All defendants are sued either as primary participantsin
the wrongful and illegal conduct charged herein or as controlling persons as aleged below.

60. Defendants, individually and in concert, directly and indirectly, by the use,
means or instrumentdities of interstate commerce and/or of the mails, engaged and
participated in a continuous course of conduct to conceal adverse materia information about
the business, operations and future prospects of AstroPower as specified herein.

61. These defendants employed devices schemes and artifices to defraud, whilein
possession of material adverse non-public information and engaged in acts, practices, and a
course of conduct as aleged herein in an effort to assure investors of AstroPower’s value and
performance and continued substantial growth, which included the making of, or the
participation in the making of, untrue statements of material facts and omitting to state material
facts necessary in order to make the statements made about AstroPower and its business operations
and future progpectsin the light of thecircumstances under which they were made, not
mideading, as set forth more particularly herein, and engaged in transactions, practices and a
course of business which operated as a fraud and deceit upon the purchasers of AstroPower
securities during the Class Period.

62. Each of the Individual Defendants’ primary liability, and controlling person
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liability, arisesfrom thefollowing facts (i) the Individua Defendants were high-level executives
and/or directors at the Company during the Class Period and members of the Company s
management team or had control thereof; (ii) each of these defendants, by virtue of his
responsibilities and activities as a senior officer and/or director of the Company was privy to and
paticipated in the creation, development and reporting of the Company sinterna budgets, plans,
projections and/or reports; (iii) eech of these defendants enjoyed significant personal contact and
familiarity with the other defendants and was advised of and had access to other members of the
Company’ s management team, interna reports and other data and information about the
Company’s finances, operations, and sales at al relevant times; and (iv) each of these
defendants was aware of the Company’'s dissemination of information to the investing public
which they knew or recklesdy disregarded was materidly fase and mideading.

63. The defendants had actual knowledge of the misrepresentations and omissions
of materia facts set forth herein, or acted with reckless disregard for the truth in thet they failed to
ascertain and to disclose such facts, even though such facts were available to them. Such
defendants material misrepresentations and/or omissions were done knowingly or recklessly
and for the purpose and effect of concealing AstroPower’ s operating condition and future
business prospects from the investing public and supporting the artificidly inflated price of its
securities. As demonstrated by defendants overstatements and misstatements of the
Company’s business, operations and earnings throughout the Class Period, defendants, if they did
not have actud knowledge of the misrepresentations and omissons aleged, were recklessin failing to
obtain such knowledge by deliberately refraining from taking those steps necessary to discover
whether those statements werefalse or mideading.

64.  Asaresult of the dissemination of the materially false and misleading
information and failure to disclose material facts, as set forth above, the market price of

AstroPower’ s securities was artificialy inflated during the Class Period. In ignorance of the fact

-21-



that market prices of AstroPower’s publicly-traded securitieswere artificialy inflated, and relying
directly or indirectly on the false and mideading statements made by def endants, or upon the
integrity of the market in which the securities trade, and/or on the absence of materia adverse
information that was known to or recklesdy disregarded by defendants but not disclosed in public
statements by defendants during the Class Period, plaintiff and the other members of the Class
acquired AstroPower securities during the Class Period at atificidly high prices and were
damaged thereby.

65. At thetime of said misrepresentations and omissions, plaintiff and other
members of the Class were ignorant of ther fasity, and bdieved them to be true. Had plaintiff and
the other members of the Class and the marketplace known the truth regarding the problems
that AstroPower was experiencing, which were not disclosed by defendants, plaintiff and
other members of the Class would not have purchased or otherwise acquired their AstroPower
securities, or, if they had acquired such securities during the Class Period, they would not
have done so at the artificialy inflated priceswhich they paid.

66. By virtue of the foregoing, defendants have violated Section 10(b) of the
Exchange Act, and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder.

67.  Asadirect and proximate result of defendants’ wrongful conduct, plaintiff and
the other members of the Class suffered damages in connection with their respective purchases
and sdes of theCompany’s securities during the Class Period.

SECOND CLAIM

Violation Of Section 20(a) Of
The Exchange Act Against Individual Defendants

68. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every alegation contained above as if
fully set forth herein. This claim is brought againgt the Individual Defendants.
69. The Individual Defendants acted as controlling persons of AstroPower within

the meaning of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act as aleged herein. By virtue of their high



level positions, and their ownership and contractua rights, participation in and/or awareness of
the Company’ s operations and/or intimate knowledge of the fase financid statementsfiled by the
Company with the SEC and disseminated to the investing public, the Individua Defendants hed the
power to influenceand control and did influence and control, directly or indirectly, the
decisionrmaking of the Company, including the content and dissemination of the various
statements which plaintiff contends are false and misleading. The Individual Defendants were
provided with or had unlimited access to copies of the Company s reports, press releases,
public filings and other statements alleged by plaintiff to be mideading prior to and/or shortly
dter these satements were issued and had the ability to prevent the issuance of the statements or
cause the statements to be corrected.

70. In particular, each of these defendants had direct and supervisory involvement
in the day-to-day operations of the Company and, therefore, is presumed to have had the
power to control or influence the particular transactions giving rise to the securities violations as
alleged herein, and exercised the same.

71.  Asset forth above, AstroPower and the Individual Defendants each violated
Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 by their acts and omissons as dleged in this Complaint. By virtue of
their positions as controlling persons, the Individual Defendants are liable pursuant to Section
20(a) of the Exchange Act. As adirect and proximate result of defendants wrongful conduct,
plaintiff and other members of the Class suffered damages in connection with their purchases
of the Company s securities during the Class Period.

WHEREFORE, plaintiff prays for relief and judgment, as follows:

@ Determining that this action is a proper class action, designating
plaintiff as Lead Plaintiff and certifying plaintiff as a class representative under Rule 23 of the
Federa Rules of Civil Procedure and plaintiff’s counsel as Lead Counsel;

(b) Awarding compensatory damages in favor of plaintiff and the other
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Class membersagainst al defendants, jointly and severally, for al damages sustained as a

result of defendants’ wrongdoing, in an amount to be proven at trid, including interest thereon;

(© Awarding plaintiff and the Class their reasonable costs and expenses

incurred in thisaction, including counsd fees and expert fees, and

(d) Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Paintiff hereby demands atria by jury.

Dated: April 16, 2003
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